FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 12/1/2020 11:53 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/1/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99273-8

No. 53248-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER W. SARTIN and ROSE M. RYKER, Individually and as a marital community, Appellants

v.

THE ESTATE OF ALONZO MCPIKE; PIERCE COUNTY PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION BENEFIT AREA CORPORATION, a/k/a PIERCE TRANSIT, MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington Corporation d/b/a TACOMA GENERAL HOSPITAL; MULTICARE OCCUPATIONAL MEDICINE; and RICHARD GILBERT, M.D. individually, Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT

PUTNAM LIEB POTVIN DAILEY

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Christopher Sartin petitions the Court to accept review of the published decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals identified in the following section.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In its November 3, 2020 published opinion, attached hereto at Appendix A, Division II of the Court of Appeals denied Mr. Sartin's arguments regarding the summary dismissal of his claims as to all Defendants by the trial court. Mr. Sartin requests review of all portions of this opinion.

C. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Should the Supreme Court reaffirm longstanding precedent in Washington law regarding foreseeability despite Division II's departure from that precedent in this case? YES.
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err when it failed to hold each Defendant to standards set forth in the proper FMCSA regulatory scheme? YES.
- 3. Does the issue of whether members of the public should be able to recover from injuries caused by medically unfit commercial drivers present an issue of substantial public importance? YES.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Federal Regulatory Scheme and Medical Examination

Established under authority set forth in the COMMERCIAL

MOTOR VEHICLE SAFETY ACT OF 1986, TITLE XII, P.L. 99-570,

the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration ("FMCSA") sets forth

comprehensive safety regulations for commercial motor carriers. 49

U.S.C. § 31102. FMCSA establishes minimum qualifications for persons

who drive commercial motor vehicles as well as the "minimum duties of motor carriers with respect to the qualifications of their drivers." 49 C.F.R. § 391.1(a). Although states may adopt their own requirements for "intrastate" motor carriers, the Washington state legislature has explicitly adopted these federal standards with the purpose of reducing commercial vehicle injuries through strengthening commercial licensing and testing standards. RCW 46.25.005(1)(c).

Commercial bus drivers must hold a commercial driver's license ("CDL"). CP at 18. In order to obtain a CDL, drivers must undergo periodic physical examinations by a certified medical examiner. 49 C.F.R. § 391.45. These examinations are heavily regulated under the guidelines set forth by FMCSA at 49 C.F.R. § 391.41-43. Certified medical examiners are required by regulation to "[b]e knowledgeable of the physical and mental demands associated with operating a commercial vehicle... and the medical advisory criteria prepared by the FMCSA...." 49 C.F.R. § 391.43(c)(1). The medical examination includes a comprehensive physical evaluation and screening for various health conditions. 49 C.F.R. § 391.41 and *See* Appx. A to Part 391 - Medical Advisory Criteria. In 2014, FMCSA strengthened the requirements of CDL examiners to be specially certified to perform the exams in accordance with FMCSA regulations. CP 336; 49 C.F.R. § 391.43.

The examiner has the authority to grant or deny medical certification and can issue a certificate for anywhere from three months to

two years, depending on the results of the exam. 49 C.F.R. § 391.45(b); See Appx. A to Part 391 – Medical Advisory Criteria (F)(4). The focus of the CDL exam is to evaluate whether a driver has medical conditions that can interfere with the drivers' ability to safely operate a vehicle or increase the risk of incapacitation while driving. CP at 1702.

Regarding hypertension and high blood pressure, Appx. A to Part

391 – Medical Advisory Criteria (F)(4) instructs:

A blood pressure of 160-179 systolic and/or 100-109 diastolic is considered Stage 2 hypertension, and the driver is not necessarily unqualified during evaluation and institution of treatment. The driver is given a one-time certification of three months to reduce his or her blood pressure to less than or equal to 140/90...Provided treatment is well tolerated and the driver demonstrates a blood pressure value of 140/90 or less, he or she may be certified for one year from date of the initial exam.

In addition to concerns about elevated blood pressure, 12 other conditions are closely considered to determine if the conditions will affect the driver's ability to drive safely. *See* 49 C.F.R. § 391.41(b)(1-13). These conditions are important considerations in driver certification because occupational research has shown that these conditions are significant risk factors for preventable crashes. CP at 345-46.

II. Pertinent Factual Background

On May 26, 2015, Defendant Alonzo McPike began his shift as a Pierce Transit public bus driver in Tacoma, Washington. CP at 74. Some time later, Mr. McPike slumped over in the driver's seat, held in by only his seatbelt, and the bus careened ahead and collided with a pickup truck that was stopped at a red light. CP at 3, 64, 98. Mr. Sartin was a passenger in the truck and was seriously injured in the collision. CP at 3-4.

Emergency responders arrived at the scene and determined that Mr. McPike's heart had stopped. CP at 121. Mr. McPike remained in a coma and died five weeks after the collision. CP at 121-22. The causes of death listed on his death certificate were anoxic brain injury, cardiac arrest, diabetes and hypertension, and obesity, with untreated obstructive sleep apnea as a contributing factor. CP at 388. At the hospital, Mrs. McPike confirmed her husband's deteriorating health and his refusal to take care of himself, telling a social worker that she had "always feared that his self-inflicted health problems would cause something like this, and it would all land on me. CP at 378.

Indeed, in the months before the collision, Mr. McPike's health had deteriorated. *Infra*. For example, in November 2014, Mr. McPike presented to Dr. Kirk Harmon, a certified CDL medical examiner, to renew his CDL. CP at 277-79. Per controlling CDL regulations, Dr. Harmon denied a full-year renewal of Mr. McPike's CDL because his blood pressure was 150/72 on the date of the exam. CP at 1714-16. Instead, Mr. McPike received a one-time 3-month renewal. *Id.* In a letter dated November 7, 2014, Dr. Harmon warned Mr. McPike that his blood pressure was too high, and regulations required it to be no higher than 140/90 to maintain licensure. CP at 1728, 1105.

On January 30, 2015, Mr. McPike saw Defendant Dr. Gilbert for re-certification. CP at 116-17. Mr. McPike had a disqualifying blood pressure reading of 162/64 on the day of his exam, elevating him to stage 2 hypertension and creating a more dangerous risk of incapacitation.¹ CP at 118. Mr. McPike also exhibited symptoms of 8 of the 13 conditions recognized as risk factors for interfering with safe driving. CP at 345-46. Nonetheless, contrary to FMCSA mandates, Dr. Gilbert re-certified Mr. McPike for a full year. CP at 118.

III. Procedural Background

Plaintiff Christopher Sartin filed a Complaint against Defendants Pierce Transit and the Estate of Alonzo McPike.² CP at 1-6. Thereafter, Mr. Sartin filed a Complaint against Defendants Multicare Health System and Richard Gilbert, M.D. (collectively "Dr. Gilbert") for negligence causing injuries arising from the same collision, and the two cases were consolidated. CP at 974, 983.

On January 4, 2019, the trial court granted Pierce Transit's motion for summary judgment, holding that Mr. McPike's loss of consciousness was not foreseeable as a matter of law. CP at 1294. Mr. Sartin filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied. CP at 1585. Dr. Gilbert

¹ The FMCSA Medical Examiner Handbook states: BP greater than or equal to 140/90 is deemed high for most... for every 20 mm Hg systolic or 10 mm Hg diastolic increase in BP there is a doubling of mortality from both ischemic heart disease and stroke. The relationship between BP and risk of a [cardiac] event is continuous, consistent, and independent of other risk factors. CP at 1605-06.

² Mr. McPike was working in the scope of his employment with Pierce Transit at the time of the collision, so liability is also imputed to Pierce Transit through *respondeat superior* if Mr. McPike is found liable. Plaintiff also maintains separate claims of negligence against Pierce Transit for its failure to properly oversee driver health and safety.

also filed a motion for summary judgment. CP 1382. In ruling on Dr. Gilbert's motion, the court struck the declaration of Dr. Fletcher, Plaintiff's expert, as to his opinions on cardiac issues. CP at 1379, 1837. The court then granted Dr. Gilbert's motion for summary judgment. *Id.*

Mr. Sartin appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal as to Mr. McPike holding that Mr. McPike's loss of consciousness was unforeseeable as a matter of law and there was no genuine issue of fact as to whether his loss of consciousness was "sudden." As to Pierce Transit, the Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal, holding that there was no evidence that Pierce Transit's actions were a proximate cause of the collision. Finally, as to Dr. Gilbert, the Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal, holding that without Dr. Fletcher's declaration, there was no evidence that Dr. Gilbert's actions were a proximate cause of the collision.

E. ARGUMENT

Mr. Sartin respectfully requests review by the Supreme Court because: (1) the Court of Appeals diverged from long-standing Washington authority and adopted an incongruent legal standard regarding foreseeability, (2) the Court of Appeals erred in ignoring the applicable regulatory scheme of FMCSA as adopted by the State of Washington, and (3) this case addresses an issue of substantial public importance effecting the safety of the public. As such, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IS INCONGRUENT WITH PUBLISHED AUTHORITY FROM THIS COURT, THE COURT OF APPEALS, AND FMCSA

a. The Court of Appeal's analysis misapplies Washington law on foreseeability and conflicts with prior published opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Summary Judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and when viewing all facts and inferences in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Strauss v. Premera Blue Cross*, 194 Wn. 2d 296, 300, 449 P.3d 640 (2019). Typically, an expert opinion will be sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact to defeat summary judgment if the opinion is grounded in fact and not merely based on speculation or assumptions. *Id.* at 301. The review on appeal is *de novo*, meaning appellate courts must conduct the same inquiry as the trial court. *Id.* at 300; *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 685, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998).

It is a long-standing tenet of Washington law that the question of foreseeability is one for the jury. *See e.g., Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 468, 477, 951 P.2d 749 (1998); *Christen v. Lee*, 113 Wn.2d 479, 492, 780 P.2d 1307 (1989). Foreseeability can only be resolved by the court if reasonable minds cannot differ as to whether the defendant's actions foreseeably fall into the scope of their duty to the plaintiff. *Lee v. Willis Enterprises, Inc.*, 194 Wn. App. 394, 401, 377 P.3d 244 (2016). The question for the jury is whether the defendant could have reasonably foreseen the eventual consequences of their actions. *Id.* at 402.

This Court has long stated that foreseeability is established when, "[t]he harm sustained [is] reasonably perceived as being within the general field of danger covered by the specific duty owed by the defendant." *Maltman v. Sauer*, 84 Wn.2d 975, 981, 530 P.2d 254 (1975). It is not a question of whether a particular kind of harm was expectable, but rather whether the harm fell within an anticipated general field of danger. *Rickstad v. Holmberg*, 76 Wn.2d 265, 269, 456 P.2d 355 (1969).

The issue of foreseeability in the context of drivers who lose consciousness has been addressed in two published Washington cases. *Kaiser v. Suburban Transp. System*, 65 Wn.2d 461, 398 P.2d 14 (1965); *Presleigh v. Lewis*, 13 Wn. App. 212, 214, 534 P.2d 606, 607 (1975). In *Kaiser*, the court relieved the driver of liability because the driver was not warned that a medication would cause drowsiness, so it was not foreseeable that he would lose control of his vehicle. 65 Wn.2d at 466-68. Subsequently, in *Presleigh*, the Court of Appeals applied *Kaiser* and squarely laid out the rule applicable in Washington concerning whether the defense of sudden incapacitation is available to a driver:

One who undertakes to drive his automobile has a duty to drive it in a reasonable manner so as to not injure another... The defendant breached that duty as a matter of law when he undertook to drive his automobile <u>knowing his ability to</u> <u>drive in a reasonable manner might be affected</u>. The fact that <u>he did not know the precise way in which his driving might</u> <u>be affected...does not relieve him from a breach of this duty.</u>

Id. at 214 (emphasis added).

This has remained the rule in Washington for over 40 years. Yet, in its analysis of foreseeability in the present case, the Court of Appeals applied the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS: PHYS. & EMOT. HARM § 11 (2010). This appears to be the first time this Restatement has been applied in Washington law, and Court's application of it represents a significant departure from the rule set forth in *Presleigh*. Restatement § 11(b) states in relevant part:

The conduct of an actor during a period of sudden incapacitation or loss of consciousness resulting from physical illness is negligent only if the sudden incapacitation or loss of consciousness was reasonably foreseeable to the actor.

In applying this rule, the Court of Appeals focused on whether the *specific cause* of "sudden incapacitation or loss of consciousness" was foreseeable. This application of the rule completely diverges from long-standing Washington law that only requires that the harm fell within the general field of danger. The Court of Appeals' application does not account for a driver whose ability to safely operate a vehicle will be foreseeably affected in some way due to the risks associated with his multitude of health conditions.

The *Presleigh* rule properly accounts for circumstances in which it is within an actor's *general knowledge* that his ability to drive safely will be affected in some way. Application of this rule to commercial drivers is especially important when considered in the context of regulations that ensure that only drivers medically fit for duty are certified. The statutory duty is squarely defined in 49 C.F.R. § 392.3, which states:

No driver shall operate a commercial motor vehicle, and a motor carrier shall not require or permit a driver to operate a commercial motor vehicle, while the driver's ability or alertness is so impaired, or so likely to become impaired, through fatigue, illness, or any other cause, as to make it unsafe for him to begin or continue to operate the commercial vehicle. (Emphasis added).

This regulation squares with *Presleigh* and further establishes that the general risk of interference with a driver's ability to drive safely should be the basis of the foreseeability analysis. Under this duty, the general danger to the public was that Mr. McPike's poor health would impair his ability to safely drive – the exact manner in which it were to occur is irrelevant because the outcome remains the same no matter which of his many high-risk ailments ultimately caused the collision.

Here, the lower courts became laser focused on the idea that the specific cause of Mr. McPike's loss of consciousness was due to coronary artery disease ("CAD") which was not foreseeable because he had no prior diagnosis of CAD. However, whether it was foreseeable that Mr. McPike would fall unconscious from CAD was not the proper inquiry under *Presleigh*; the real question was whether it was foreseeable that his overall poor health would affect his ability to safely drive in some way.

The rule set forth in *Presleigh* is also more closely aligned with the rule adopted by the courts in modern analyses of foreseeability. In *Lee*, the court described foreseeability as a "flexible concept, and a defendant

will not be relieved of a responsibility simply because the exact manner in which the injury occurred could not be anticipated." 194 Wn. App. at 402.

Here, the Court of Appeals determined that *Lee* did not apply because it "addresses foreseeability in the context of a legal duty – whether it was foreseeable that the defendant's careless behavior...could cause some injury." In fact, that is exactly the inquiry in this case – whether it was foreseeable to each Defendant that Mr. McPike's known high-risk medical conditions could affect his ability to safely operate a vehicle and cause some injury. Each Defendant's duty is statutorily defined in FMCSA, and the regulations are designed to keep unfit drivers off of the road due to the general risk of danger they pose to the public. Each Defendant here should have known of the risks presented by Mr. McPike by operating a commercial vehicle because FMCSA and occupational health standards specifically warned them of this danger.

It does not matter whether Mr. McPike became incapacitated due to the onset of undiagnosed CAD, or complications with diabetes, or sleep apnea/fatigue issues, or effects of benzodiazepine use, or hypertension. CP 345-46. Each Defendant knew or should have known of the foreseeable risk of allowing Mr. McPike to continue driving because FMCSA provides strict standards that guide whether a driver is medically fit – i.e. reasonably safe – to drive a commercial vehicle. Mr. McPike was undeniably unfit, and his eventual incapacitation was well within the general dangers anticipated by his unfitness under FMCSA guidelines.

Even Dr. Thompson, a defense cardiology expert, signed off on a report stating that Mr. McPike's cardiac arrest was "entirely due to preexisting coronary heart disease caused by hypertension, diabetes, high blood cholesterol, smoking, sleep apnea, and obesity." CP 407. These high-risk factors made Mr. McPike a ticking time bomb for eventual incapacitation.

For the first time in a Washington state case, the Court of Appeals, without explanation, adopted Restatement § 11 and narrowed the rule on foreseeability to whether the *specific cause* of incapacitation was foreseeable. But Washington precedent, like FMCSA, is rightfully concerned with the foreseeable *general risk* that a medically unfit driver poses, not whether the exact manner of eventual incapacitation was predicted. The Court of Appeals' application of foreseeability diverges strongly from long-held tenets of Washington law and creates a conflict among divisions. Accordingly, the Supreme Court must reconcile this conflict and affirm the long-established rule set forth in *Presleigh* et. al in order to protect the public from the foreseeable risks of harm created by medically unfit drivers.

b. Under controlling law, Mr. McPike's incapacitation was foreseeable to Dr. Gilbert based on his examination and mandatory FMCSA standards for CDL licensure.

Certified medical examiners are required by regulation to "[b]e knowledgeable of the physical and mental demands associated with operating a commercial vehicle... and the medical advisory criteria prepared by the FMCSA...." 49 C.F.R. § 391.43(c)(1). It is the fundamental obligation of the medical examiner to assess whether a driver's physical condition could interfere with his ability to safety operate a commercial vehicle. CP 1702.

Under FMCSA advisory standards, if a driver presents for examination with blood pressure readings over 140/90, an examiner can only issue a *one- time* three-month certification. Appx. A to 49 C.F.R. § 391.43(F)(4). If the driver reduces their blood pressure to under 140/90 during those three months, a one-year certification is available. *Id.* However, without an acceptable blood pressure reading following the three-month certification, the driver is disqualified from re-certification, full-stop. *Id.* Despite this requirement, Dr. Gilbert re-certified Mr. McPike for a full year following Dr. Harmon's three-month certification even though his blood pressure reading was a dangerous and disqualifying 162/64 on the day of his re-certification exam. ³

In addition, Mr. McPike exhibited 8 of 13 conditions known to increase the risk of driver incapacitation – the very peril Dr. Gilbert was charged with assessing; yet, Dr. Gilbert re-certified Mr. McPike without further investigation. FMCSA sets forth clear standards to be followed by certified CDL examiners in order to keep drivers that create a foreseeable risk of harm off the road. Had Dr. Gilbert acted prudently, he would have disqualified Mr. McPike and the collision would have been avoided.

³ Although the Court of Appeals acknowledged this disqualifying blood pressure reading, it did not examine the significance of Dr. Gilbert's direct violation of the FMCSA mandate that required him to disqualify Mr. McPike from re-certification.

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