FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/31/2020 12:18 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99273-8

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeal Division II No. 53248-4-II

CHRISTOPHER W. SARTIN and ROSE M. RYKER, Individually and as a marital community, Petitioners,

v.

THE ESTATE OF ALONZO MCPIKE; PIERCE COUNTY PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION BENEFIT AREA CORPORATION, a/k/a PIERCE TRANSIT, MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington corporation d/b/a TACOMA GENERAL HOSPITAL; MULTICARE OCCUPATIONAL MEDICINE; and RICHARD GILBERT, M.D., individually.

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Unlike the "general field of danger" analysis applicable to claims against the doctor, claims against drivers, including common carrier drivers, are subject to proof of notice or warning that a loss of consciousness or incapacity would occur.

The second case addressing Washington's sudden incapacitation doctrine is *Presleigh v. Lewis*, 13 Wn. App. 212, 534 P.2d 606 (1975). In *Presleigh*, a physician gave the defendant an anti-nauseant injection treatment for the flu. *Id.* at 212. Unlike the facts of *Kaiser*, the defendant driver admitted that the physician warned him the shot could affect his driving. The doctor told him:

I don't want you to drive downtown or out on the freeway or someplace where you are going to be in traffic because this shot could have a tendency to make you drowsy, some people it does, some people it doesn't

Id. at 213.

The defendant blacked out driving home from the doctor's office and crashed into the plaintiff's home. *Id.* at 212. In reviewing whether the trial court properly granted judgment n.o.v., the appellate court held that the defendant breached the duty to drive in a reasonable manner

when he undertook to drive his automobile *knowing his ability to drive in a reasonable manner might be affected.* The fact that he did not know the precise way in which his driving might be affected and he did not in fact become drowsy before he blacked out or went to sleep does not relieve him from a breach of this duty. Thus, defendant was negligent as a matter of law for driving *after he was warned that his driving could be affected by the injection* and must be held liable for the damages resulting therefrom.

Id. at 214-15 (emphasis added) (citing Kaiser, 65 Wn.2d at 461).

2. The Restatement Conforms to Washington Law.

In addition to reviewing the details of *Kaiser* and *Presleigh*, *see Sartin*, 475 P.3d 529-30, the court below reviewed the Restatement (Third) of Torts: Liability for Phys. & Emot. Harm § 11(b) (Am. Law Inst. 2010) ("Restatement"), *id.* Echoing this Court's analysis in *Kaiser*, the Restatement provides: "[t]he conduct of an actor during a period of sudden incapacitation or loss of consciousness resulting from physical illness is negligent only if the sudden incapacitation or loss of consciousness was reasonably foreseeable to the actor." Restatement § 11(b).

Far from being a departure from Washington law, as Petitioners argue, the Restatement simply articulates the "impressively unanimous" acceptance of the rule that "a party does not bear liability if the party's substandard behavior is due to an unforeseeable seizure or loss of consciousness." Restatement § 11 cmt. d. In fact, the Restatement relies upon *Kaiser* as support for its formation.⁵

The court below recognized that the Restatement suggested factors to consider when deciding whether an incapacitation was reasonably foreseeable, including: (1) "the number and frequency of episodes of incapacitation in the past"; (2) "the circumstances of those episodes, insofar as those circumstances bear on the likelihood of a reoccurrence"; (3) "the extent to which medical treatment the actor is receiving can be expected to control the underlying medical problem"; and (4) "whatever advice the actor's physician has provided." *Sartin*, 475 P.3d at 528. These factors are

⁵ See id. (citing Kaiser v. Suburban Transp. Sys., 398 P.2d 14 (Wash. 1965) among other cases including: Walker v. Cardwell, 348 So.2d 1049 (Ala. 1977); Goodrich v. Blair, 646 P.2d 890 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1982); Lutzkovitz v. Murray, 339 A.2d 64 (Del. 1975); Watts v. Smith, 226 A.2d 160 (D.C. 1967); Burns v. Grezeka, 508 N.E.2d 449 (Ill. App. Ct. 1987); Holcomb v. Miller, 269 N.E.2d 885 (Ind. Ct. App. 1971); Freese v. Lemmon, 267 N.W.2d 680 (Iowa 1978); Rogers v. Wilhelm-Olsen, 748 S.W.2d 671 (Ky. Ct. App. 1988); Brannon v. Shelter Mut. Ins. Co., 507 So.2d 194 (La. 1987); Moore v. Presnell, 379 A.2d 1246 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1977); Murphy v. Paxton, 186 So.2d 244 (Miss. 1966); Storjohn v. Fay, 519 N.W.2d 521 (Neb. 1994); Word v. Jones, 516 S.E.2d 144 (N.C. 1999); Jenkins v. Morgan, 566 N.E.2d 1244 (Ohio Ct. App. 1988); Parker v. Washington, 421 P.2d 861 (Okla. 1966); van der Hout v. Johnson, 446 P.2d 99 (Or. 1968); Howle v. PYA/Monarch, Inc., 344 S.E.2d 157 (S.C. Ct. App. 1986); McCall v. Wilder, 913 S.W.2d 150 (Tenn. 1995); Witt v. Merricks, 168 S.E.2d 517 (Va. 1969); Restatement Second, Torts § 283C, Comment c); see also Timothy E. Travers, Liability for automobile accident allegedly caused by driver's blackout, sudden unconsciousness, or the like, 93 A.L.R.3d 326 ("cases decided under negligence theories have uniformly held that a sudden loss of consciousness while driving is a complete defense to an action based on negligence or gross negligence, if such loss of consciousness was not foreseeable") (listing cases from 38 states).

consistent with the analyses in *Kaiser* and *Presleigh*, including determining whether a defendant was warned by a physician.

3. Petitioners' Argument Conflicts with Washington law.

On appeal and in their petition, Petitioners argued that the inquiry for this case should be whether it was foreseeable that Mr. McPike's driving would be affected "in some way" by his health conditions. Pet. at 9; *Sartin*, 475 P.3d at 530. "However, Sartin's claim is inconsistent with well-settled law regarding sudden loss of consciousness. Both *Kaiser* and the Restatement are clear that there is no negligence unless the loss of consciousness is foreseeable to the defendant." *Sartin*, 475 P.3d at 530 (citing *Kaiser*, 65 Wn.2d at 466; Restatement § 11(b)).

The appellate court addressed Petitioners' request to substitute the logic of *Lee v. Willis Enterprises, Inc.*, 194 Wn. App. 394, 402, 377 P.3d 244 (2016)—which did not involve an incapacitated motor vehicle driver—for *Kaiser*. In rejecting Petitioners' argument, the court reasoned that:

Lee addresses foreseeability in the context of the scope of a legal duty – whether it was foreseeable that the defendant's careless behavior while working around high voltage equipment could cause some injury. 194 Wash. App. at 401-03, 377 P.3d 244. Conversely, this case involves the foreseeability of a very specific event – McPike's loss of consciousness.

Id.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning aligns with *Kaiser* which recognized the specific foreseeability analysis applicable to a case involving an incapacitated driver. This Court held that the doctor would be liable if the accident was within the "general field of danger" of his conduct, *but* the driver was only liable if he had "conscious appreciation of the significance of facts constituting *premonitory warning of sleep or incapacity*" *Kaiser*, 65 Wn.2d at 468 (emphasis added). Petitioners' general field of danger analysis, as applied to Pierce Transit and Mr. McPike, conflicts with *Kaiser* and, if adopted, would eviscerate Washington's sudden incapacitation doctrine.⁶

4. The Decisions Below Conform to *Kaiser* and *Presleigh*.

As required by *Kaiser* and *Presleigh*, the appellate court reviewed whether Mr. McPike had notice that he could suffer a sudden incapacitation. *Sartin*, 475 P.3d at 529-31. Contrary to Petitioners' brief, the appellate court did not become "laser focused," Pet. at 10, on whether Mr. McPike had

⁶ Under Petitioner's view, having any health conditions that increase one's risk of developing coronary artery disease, which, in turn, could put one at risk of a sudden cardiac event, would put a person in the "general zone of danger" of a sudden incapacitation event. Combined with Petitioners' expert's admission that "20 percent of the time the first manifestation of coronary artery disease is sudden death," CP 1047–48 (Fletcher Dep. at 51:19–52:3), it is unclear whether *any* driver, lay or professional, should be on the road. The duty Petitioners seek to impose is so potentially broad as to leave drivers and public transit agencies with no standards by which to judge their decisions to get behind the wheel of a motor vehicle.

coronary artery disease ("CAD"). Rather, the court reviewed the undisputed

evidence in the record relating to foreseeability, including:

- Petitioners' expert's admissions that "no medical provider advised McPike that he was not fit to drive a bus," *Sartin*, 475 P.3d at 531;
- Petitioners' expert's admissions that "no medical provider told McPike that he could not drive because of his high blood pressure, diabetes, or sleep apnea, or because of his irregular heartbeat," *id.*;
- "none of [Mr. McPike's] doctors believed it was unsafe for him to drive a bus," *id.*; and
- Mr. McPike "qualified for a CDL medical certificate less than four months before the accident," *id.* 529.

On these undisputed facts, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's finding that Mr. McPike's sudden loss of consciousness was not foreseeable as a matter of law. *Id.* at 531.

Notably, even if the appellate court had focused on whether Mr. McPike had CAD, that would only be because Petitioners' own expert opined that Mr. McPike's alleged CAD was the cause of his incapacitation. *Id.* at 533 ("[Dr. Fletcher] testified that he was certain that McPike had significant coronary artery disease that caused the arrhythmia that resulted in his cardiac arrest."); CP 1047–48 (Fletcher Dep. at 51:19–52:3).

This Court repeatedly holds that "[a] party cannot properly seek review of an alleged error which the party invited." *Davis v. Globe Mach. Mfg. Co., Inc.*, 102 Wn.2d 68, 77, 684 P.2d 692 (1984) (citing *Rao v. Auburn Gen. Hosp.*, 19 Wn. App. 124, 573 P.2d 834 (1978)). If review of the question regarding whether Mr. McPike had CAD was an error, it was at Petitioners' invitation.

5. Petitioners' complaint regarding the legal conclusions flowing from this record does not justify review.

Petitioners' myriad assertions regarding the implications of evidence in the record do not place the Court of Appeals' decision in conflict with Washington law. For example, Petitioners reiterate their unsupported assertion that Mr. McPike misrepresented his health history to his medical providers. Pet. at 15. Yet, the Court of Appeals addressed this issue in its decision, finding it immaterial to foreseeability:

> Sartin suggests in an argument subheading that McPike withheld his dangerous medical history from his medical providers and Pierce Transit. He also claims that McPike made misrepresentations to his medical providers to get recertified. Dr. Fletcher made the same allegation. However, Sartin provides no argument regarding this allegation. Specifically, he does not explain why withholding medical information would affect the foreseeability of McPike's loss of consciousness.

Sartin, 475 P.3d at 531 n.1.

Petitioners also generally assert that, despite the undisputed fact that his medical providers never warned him he was unsafe to drive,⁷ Mr. McPike, nonetheless, "should have known" he was not fit to drive, Pet. at 15-16. Petitioners base this argument on Mr. McPike's allegedly

⁷ CP 1056–70 (Fletcher Dep. at 122:9–123:3, 136:11–18, 137:1–14, 140:8–22, 143:24–144:21).

"disqualifying" blood pressure readings. *See id.*⁸ Notably, Petitioners cannot (and do not) point to a specific, disqualifying blood pressure reading because no such reading is present in this record. Mr. McPike's blood pressure readings, relative to the federal regulatory standard, were all qualifying as demonstrated in this chart:⁹

Not	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3
Hypertensive	Hypertension	Hypertension:	Hypertension:
within 49	<u>140-159</u>	<u>160-179</u>	<u>180+</u>
C.F.R. pt. 391	90-99	100-109	110
	Qualified:	Qualified:	Disqualified
	One Year	Three Months	
Nov. 28, 2014:	Nov. 7, 2014:	Jan. 30, 2015:	
134/70	150/72	162/64	
CP at 114	CP at 1102	CP at 1629	
Dec. 16, 2014:	Dec. 18, 2014:		
138/68	146/78		
CP at 114	CP at 1624		
Jan. 14, 2015:	Jan. 29, 2015:		
132/70	148/75		
CP at 114	CP at 1626		
	March 3, 2015:		
	140/78		
	CP at 533		

⁸ Petitioners argue that a "November 7, 2020 [sic] letter from Dr. Harmon warned Mr. McPike that his blood pressure was too high to continue driving when it registered 150/72." Pet. at 15. However, Dr. Harmon's November 7, 2014 letter actually said that Mr. McPike's blood pressure was too high "for a one year qualification." CP 1105. Dr. Harmon also stated that Mr. McPike was "cleared to operate a commercial vehicle. He is issued a 90 day card while he has a sleep evaluation and bp control." CP 1104.

⁹ 49 C.F.R. Pt. 391, App. A(II)(F)(3) articulates the standard for stage 1; 49 C.F.R. Pt. 391, App. A(II)(F)(4) for stage 2; and 49 C.F.R. Pt. 391, App. A(II)(F)(5) for stage 3.

Petitioners also argue that Pierce Transit failed to adequately investigate Mr. McPike's medical fitness. Pet. at 17.¹⁰ But, "Sartin did not present any evidence that but for Pierce Transit's failure to monitor McPike's medical condition, the accident would not have occurred." *Sartin*, 475 P.3d at 532. Dr. Fletcher, Petitioners' expert, admitted that he could only speculate that: an additional evaluation was warranted, an evaluation would have revealed CAD, or, if an issue was found, it would have been disqualifying. *See id.*; CP 1062 (Fletcher Dep. at 132:5–12).

Petitioners' non-medical expert Lew Grill's opinions do not change the decision below. Dr. Fletcher admitted that one would have to speculate that any of the additional evaluations Mr. Grill believes should have occurred would have provided notice that Mr. McPike was not fit to drive. *Sartin*, 475 P.3d at 532; CP 1062 (Fletcher Dep. at 132:5–12). Thus, even with the addition of Mr. Grill's opinions, Petitioners cannot show that "but for Pierce Transit's failure to monitor McPike's medical condition, the accident would not have occurred." *Sartin*, 475 P.3d at 532.

¹⁰ The statute Petitioners cite merely states that a carrier shall not permit a driver to operate a vehicle "*while* the driver's ability or alertness is so impaired" Pet. at 17 (citing 49 C.F.R. § 392.3) (emphasis added). Although Respondents disagree that they are subject to this statute, *see supra* § III.A., it is important to note that the statute does not require Pierce Transit to be the decision-maker on *whether* the driver is impaired. Nor do Petitioners mention *how* non-medical professionals should make that determination. *See generally*, Pet. The cited statute does not prohibit a transit agency from relying on the expertise of medical professionals for those decisions.

B. <u>Rule 13.4(b)(4) Does Not Support Review.</u>¹¹

This is only the third time a Washington court has addressed the sudden incapacitation doctrine in a published opinion. And, in two of those three instances, Washington courts addressed the doctrine in the context of a public transit operator. Petitioners' argument that the current state of the law poses an urgent danger to the public is belied by the infrequency with which Washington courts are called upon to apply *Kaiser*.

Petitioners' are asking this Court to consider overturning *Kaiser* and instead rule that any time a person is hurt in a motor vehicle accident, someone must be adjudged liable and must pay damages. This is not the law in the state of Washington. As such, Pierce Transit and the McPike Estate respectfully request that this Court deny Petitioners' request for review.

V. CONCLUSION

As *Kaiser* and *Presleigh* demonstrate, reviewing foreseeability in terms of whether a driver's *sudden incapacitation* was foreseeable does not foreclose a plaintiff's ability to recover. The courts below both applied the rule that a defendant may be liable if there is proof of a warning by a doctor prior to the sudden incapacitation. Here, the record is devoid of any such warning—in fact, all of the medical evidence revealed the opposite. All of

¹¹ No party has identified any constitutional implications arising from this case. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Mr. McPike's medical providers endorsed his fitness to operate a Pierce Transit bus. To impose liability in such a situation "would be to punish one who is not culpable . . . and to punish where there is no culpability would be the most reprehensible tyranny." *Kaiser*, 65 Wn.2d at 466–67 (citations omitted).

Review is not justified under any Rule 13.4(b) basis. Pierce Transit and the Estate of Alonzo McPike respectfully request that this Court deny the Petition.